THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

FEB 25 2026

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
SC Workers' Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2025-001282

Mary L. Davis, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Ruiz Food Products, Inc., Employer, and
Safety National Casualty Corporation, Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Preston F. McDaniel
McDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 771-7211

and

Gerald Malloy
MALLOY LAW FIRM
Post Office Box 1200
Hartsville, SC 29551
(843) 339-3000

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE HEARING COMMISSIONER AFFIRMED BY THE COMMISSION ERR BY NOT MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT AND ADDRESSING ALL THE ESSENTIAL ISSUES BEFORE HER FOR DECISION, WHICH REQUIRES THAT THIS MATTER BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR A NEW HEARING?
- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR BY NOT AWARDING THE APPELLANT TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS ON THE BASIS OF POLLACK v. SOUTHERN WINE & SPIRITS OF AMERICA?
- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT BY NOT ADDRESSING THE ESSENTIAL ISSUE FOR DECISION: THE DEFENDANTS' /RESPONDENTS' FAILURE TO PROVIDE/AUTHORIZE MEDICAL CARE FOR THE HIP AND LEG; AND BY NOT ORDERING THAT CARE BASED ON THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?
- IV. DID THE HEARING COMMISSIONER/COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN MAKING GENERAL ORDER INSTRUCTION #3 AND FINDING OF FACT #3/FULL COMMISSION #4 AS EACH IS INACCURATE AS A MATTER OF FACT AND AS A MATTER OF LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of the Commissioner's belated/arbitrary decision following a hearing held September 27, 2023, on the basis of two (2) WCC Form 50 request for benefits filed by the claimant; one of which was filed at the direction of the Commission adding a November 4, 2022 incident as a separate accident. Order Instructions were not forwarded to defendants (Respondents herein) until five (5) months later on January 23, 2024, and a final decision was not filed by the Hearing Commissioner until July 29th, over eleven (11) months later. That Order was only filed after multiple requests by the defendants asking the Hearing Commissioner to fulfil her statutory responsibility and rule on all the issues before her for decision, and only after a Summons and Complaint was filed by the claimant on July 11, 2024, for Writs of Prohibition and Mandamus to stop a belated/arbitrary decision. A "courtesy" copy of which had been served on the Commissioner on July 19th, ten (10) days before the Order. (R. p. 120; pp. 100-131; p. 25). A Motion for Reconsideration was filed July 31, 2024 and an Amended Summons and Complaint adding the Motion for Reconsideration was filed on August 19th. (R. pp. 132-145; p. 6). A Form Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration was filed October 3, 2024; one (1) year and one (1) week after the hearing.

In the Form 30 Request for Commission Review filed October 9, 2024, the claimant alleged thirty (30) specific Grounds of Exception; and included the Grounds for review as set forth in the Motion for Reconsideration;, and referenced as Grounds for Review the bases as set forth in the Summons and Complaint requesting Writs of Prohibition and Mandamus. (R. pp. 474-511). After Briefing, instead of a public hearing as required for Administrative Agency proceedings, a hearing was held via Zoom February 10, 2025. The three-member Commission Panel filed its decision April 15, 2025, amending the Hearing Commissioner's decision by ordering, in addition to further medical care to the low back, left knee, and left hip arising out of the November 16, 2019 accident, an evaluation and treatment from the authorized treating physician for any condition related to the neck injury she sustained in the November 16, 2019 accident. The Order denied claimant any medical care for any November 4, 2022 injuries; and affirmed the Hearing Commissioner's denial of the claimant's entitlement to temporary total disability benefits based on the Pollack v. Southern Wine & Spirits of America decision. (R. pp. 474-511; pp. 714-717; pp. 416-444; pp. 445-461; pp. 8-21). Following the Full Commission Decision April 15th, the claimant filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 16, 2025, to which a Reply was made on April 25, 2025, and a Form Order denying the Motion was entered on May 27, 2025.

Following that, timely notice of the intent to appeal was filed with this Court as to those issues finally concluded and decided, and specifically: 1) Appellant's entitlement to temporary total disability benefits; 2) the arbitrary and capricious delay in making a decision and failure to address all the essential issues including failure to provide medical care; 3) the denial of a de novo hearing for failure to address essential issues; and 4) whether the Hearing Commissioner and Panel violated the Law of the Case doctrine in reference to the original Order of Commissioner Wilkerson. This appeal follows.

Due to the bases on appeal being, in part, the Hearing Commissioner's failure to perform her statutory duty, the arbitrary and capricious delay in reaching a decision, failure to provide a de novo hearing, violation of the Law of the Case doctrine, and the failure of the Full Commission to even consider some of those issues and not address others, a procedural history of the claim prior to the September 27, 2023 hearing, is necessary for an understanding of the issues before the Court:

PRE-SEPTEMBER 27, 2023 HEARING, PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 21, 2023, the claimant filed a Form 50 based on the November 16, 2019 accident requesting an Order ordering the provision of medical care and temporary total disability benefits after her termination while on "sedentary work only"

restrictions on February 20, 2023 through the present and continuing. The Form 50 Attachment for the November 16, 2019 accident, first set out that both before and after a June 7, 2021 Order ordering medical care, the claimant had been working light duty under ever increasing work restrictions of her authorized treating doctors, Dr. Alan and Dr. Chokshi. It then set out that a subsequent incident happened at work in which she was "assailed" following which she asked her employer for additional medical care which was not provided and on February 20, 2023, she was terminated allegedly for cause related to violation of a company policy. (R. pp. 52-58). After a Form 51 was filed April 20, 2023, a hearing was set for June 20, 2023. (R. pp. 52-62). Claimant submitted her Prehearing Brief and APA Submissions May 25, 2023, and defendants filed theirs June 9, 2023. On June 20th following a prehearing conference, Commissioner Avery Wilkerson postponed the hearing and filed his Order July 11, 2023, quoting in pertinent part:

"It was determined that the incident that occurred on November 4, 2022, constituted a separate injury by accident and a separate Form 50 request for hearing needed to be filed concerning that incident so that all issues may be before the Commission as to whether or not the claimant's current problems and request for medical care and benefits stem from the first accident, the second accident, or a combination of the two."

Pursuant to the Order, the claimant filed a separate Form 50 for the second accident with the Commission July 11, 2023, to which a Form 51 response was filed July 27, 2023; and a hearing was reset before Commissioner Aisha Taylor on September 27, 2023, as noted at the beginning of the Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ms. Mary Davis (Appellant) sustained an admitted injury on November 16, 2019 when she fell on a wet floor and was taken by ambulance to the emergency room. She was referred for authorized treatment with McLeod Occupational Health where she was treated by Dr. Stuart Sandler. Throughout the course of treatment from December 2019 to September 4, 2020, and in his opinion letter of June 19, 2021, Ms. Davis was treated and diagnosed with the following: low back pain, contusion of left hip, **cervicalgia**.

(R. pp. 210-230). In his opinion statement, Dr. Sandler stated that to a:

“reasonable degree of medical certainty, all the problems for which we have treated her in reference to her knee, hip, low back, and **neck** are causally related to and are either directly or were preexisting asymptomatic problems that were aggravated by the original work-related injury which occurred on November 16, 2019.”

After treatment for and then denial of certain medical care and a hearing, on June 8, 2021 the Commission ordered the defendants to provide evaluation and treatment for the left hip, leg and knee by a local orthopaedist. (R. pp. 1-5). Subsequently after

refusal to provide further care and her termination, March 21, 2023 Ms. Davis filed a Form 50 requesting the Commission order the defendants to provide medical care for her upper and lower back and her left hip and knee through her authorized treating physicians, Dr. Alan and Dr. Chokshi. (R. p. 111; pp. 52-58).

In the Attachment to her Form 50, Ms. Davis noted that on November 4, 2022, while working for the employer under light duty restrictions of "sedentary work only", another incident occurred at work "when she was assailed by a fellow worker allegedly trying to hug her" but which involved him grabbing and pulling her by both of her hands, and pushing and pulling her with her trying to get away from the other employee. (R. p. 56).

After a Pre-Hearing Conference before the scheduled June 20, 2023 hearing, Commissioner Wilkerson opined that the second incident that occurred on November 4, 2022 constituted a separate injury by accident and required a separate Form 50 be filed concerning that incident so that all issues may be before the Commission and quoting:

"as to whether or not the claimant's current problems and request for medical care and benefits stem from the first accident, the second accident, or a combination of the two"

and ordered that after the filing of the additional Form 50, this matter was to be reset for hearing before the Jurisdictional Commissioner. (R. p. 63).

Per the direction of Commissioner Wilkerson, on July 11, 2023 Ms. Davis filed a separate claim for benefits due to the November 4, 2022 accident and requested the same relief, that being medical evaluation and treatment for her neck, back, and hip, leg, and knee and such other bodily parts as were determined to be causally related. In addition, Ms. Davis requested temporary total disability benefits from the date she was terminated on February 20, 2023, to continue until released at maximum medical improvement. (R. pp. 64-67).

The two claims came to be heard by Commissioner Taylor on September 27, 2023. (R. p. 71). Almost exactly four (4) months later on January 23, 2024, the Commissioner issued the following Order Instructions:

1. Per Order of this Commission, claimant sustained compensable injuries to her left knee, left hip, and low back.

2. Claimant has been receiving authorized causally related medical treatment at the direction of the defendants.

3. Dr. Alan issued claimant light-duty work restrictions, which the employer was able to accommodate.

4. The claimant was ultimately terminated after being 'observed throwing food away, which was against company policy'.

5. I find that but for claimant's work policy violation, her light-duty work restriction would have continued to be accommodated. Claimant's testimony that she and other employees always

throw food away without discipline is unpersuasive.

6. I find claimant is not entitled to TTD benefits. See Pollack.

7. I find defendants are continuing to provide medical treatment in compliance with the prior Orders of the Commission and the Act.

8. No penalties or hearing costs are assessed." (Emp. add.) (R. pp. 73-74).

On March 18, 2024, defendants' Counsel having noticed the Commissioner had not addressed all the issues before her in her "Notes for Decision", wrote a letter requesting further instructions. Quoting:

"First, at the September 27, 2023 hearing, you said you would analyze whether portions of Shanda Blackwell's deposition testimony, as well as emails submitted by the claimant, were hearsay, and indicate your Findings in the Order Instructions. No indication was made in the Instructions.

Second, one of the issues at the hearing was the compensability of the claimant's alleged November 4, 2022 assault. The Order Instructions do not contain any Findings on the compensability of that alleged accident." (R. pp. 75-76).

After that, having heard nothing from the Commissioner, by letter on May 15, 2024, defendants' Counsel again sought the direction of the Commissioner in reference to those issues. (R. p. 77).

Again, on July 1, 2024, defendants' Counsel sent a copy of the March 18th letter in a series of emails regarding the Order

Instructions and the failure to rule on certain issues. The response from the Commissioner's office was:

"Good afternoon. Commissioner has this but I don't have any information at this time. I will remind her of this. Sorry for the delay...".
(R. p. 127; p. 79).

The parties agree and it is uncontested the Commissioner did not rule on issues before her for decision.¹

On July 11, 2024, the Commissioner having not entered an Order in over ten (10) months since the hearing, Ms. Davis filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court requesting a Writ of Mandamus and a Writ of Prohibition. (R. pp. 36-50).

On July 19, 2024, Appellant's Counsel inquired whether or not the Commission would accept service and provided a "courtesy copy" of the pleadings that had been filed in the Circuit Court. (R. pp. 129-131).

On July 29, 2024 without contact with either party, Commissioner Taylor unexplainedly issued an Order herself.

Ms. Davis's Counsel then filed a Motion for Reconsideration and an Amended Complaint on August 19, 2024, asking for a Writ of Mandamus and Writ of Prohibition prohibiting the Commissioner from issuing an Order on Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, to which a Return was filed. The Commissioner then issued an

¹While Ms. Davis takes the position that there are multiple issues upon which the Commissioner did not rule, the Respondents take the position she did not rule on at least two (2) specific issues before her for decision.

Order on the Motion for Reconsideration October 3rd before a hearing on the Complaint could be held in October 2024 rendering the Complaint and the requests for Writs of Prohibition and Mandamus moot. (R. pp. 132-145; pp. 6-7).

Based on the testimony and evidence submitted at the September 27th hearing, the Record establishes that as her authorized treating physicians (Drs. Alan & Chokshi) increased her restrictions, the Employer changed her multiple times into various new lighter duty jobs in an effort to provide light duty work within the restrictions issued. (R. p. 186; p. 207). At the time of the November 4th incident, Ms. Davis was under work restrictions from Dr. Chokshi of "sedentary work only" which were more stringent than those placed on her by Dr. Alan a year earlier. The Employer sought to address her "sedentary work only" restrictions by providing her a stool on the line and allowing her to work at a table where her "sedentary" job was to throw away bad product. Testimony at the hearing from Ms. Davis and Jonathan Holder is uncontested that this was normally a job performed by the employees working on that line and machine and her job was a special light duty job created for her where all she had to do was sit and throw away product. (R. p. 606, ll. 19-24; p. 608, l. 21 - p. 609, l. 6; R. p. 661, l. 25 - p. 662, l. 7). It is also uncontested/undenied that she was instructed by her supervisors that she was to "throw away" any product that

had gotten cold. (R. p. 605, l. 21 - p. 606., l. 22; R. p. 666, l. 23 - p. 667, l. 7). Ms. Davis testified that up until the November 4th incident the other employees working on the machine where she worked had helped her to keep up with the pace of production and assisted in sorting through and "throwing away" bad product. After the November 4th incident and it being reported, Ms. Davis's testimony is uncontested that she was not provided assistance in doing that sedentary duty job which required her to keep up with the demands of the production line. (R. p. 610, l. 17 - p. 611, l. 1; p. 661, l. 21).

Jonathan Holder testified, on behalf of the defendants, that the basis for her termination was that she was throwing away product, including cold product. "I believe it was destruction of company property". He acknowledged that her job in her "sedentary" duty capacity was to throw away bad product. If she were not there, he testified: "It could be leads. It could be supervisors. It could be material movers. It could be a handful of people that did her job." (R. p. 662, ll. 3-4). He also confirmed that the Plant throws away 1-2 tractor-trailer truckloads a day of bad product. (R. p. 664, ll. 1-3). He testified that he reviewed video tape of Ms. Davis doing her job and based on her being observed on several occasions throwing away stacks of product, she was terminated.

Mr. Holder acknowledged in his testimony that he did not know the policy for what product should be thrown away but did know that bad product included "cold" product, which was to be thrown away. He could not deny Ms. Davis's testimony that she had been instructed by her supervisors and everyone on the line in management to keep the table clear and not stacked up and as to why "that I do not know". (R. p. 667, ll. 5-19). He only watched the video and never watched video of anyone else or her ever before throwing away product. (R. p. 672, ll. 3-19). There is no evidence of any meetings with Ms. Davis concerning why she was throwing away the product she threw away. (R. p. 667, ll. 3-19; p. 674, l. 25 - p. 675, l. 24).

In reference to the November incident, Ms. Opal Jones' and Ms. Shanda Blackwell's deposition transcripts were placed into evidence. Both of those depositions confirmed that an incident occurred on November 4th but the other person involved in the incident, Mr. Eugene, stated that he was simply trying to hug her and it involved a hugging incident. An employee witness to the incident, Ms. Octavia Harrison, confirmed Ms. Davis's testimony in that Ms. Davis was either bumped or knocked into her as a result of the incident. Her witness statement states that Ms. Davis "bumped" into her. She also stated she thought Mr. Eugene and Ms. Davis were kidding around. (R. p. 528, l. 1 - p. 529, l. 10). The videos of the night of the incident which

served as a basis for denying the incident occurred were thrown away. (R. p. 656, ll. 5-9, ll. 16-18).

Ms. Shanda Blackwell, both in her deposition, and her email confirmed that she had had a conversation at the request of Ms. Mary Davis about the incident/assault and need for medical care and that both she and Vennie had spoken with the TM (Team Member) in the South Safety Office and that she had told them at that time her doctor had instructed that she needed to ask them about authorization for her to get an MRI done on her neck after she was assaulted last week by another TM. She also advised them that she had given the paperwork from her doctor to the Safety Tech on the day before. Ms. Opal Jones confirmed that she took the statements from the employees and was aware of the incident on the night that it occurred. (R. p. 558, l. 21 - p. 559, l. 21; p. 562, ll. 13-25; p. 567, l. 4 - p. 568, l. 24).

No evidence was placed into the Record concerning the policy of the company for termination of an employee for throwing away product. While previous company policy violations involving attendance or checking in or coming in late were made a part of the Record, there was no written company policy or any other written company policies referred to in the company termination packet entitled "Termination Information" or placed into the Record. (R. p. 296). The only termination reason listed was: "violation of company policy". Then under "Notes" it states

she was terminated for being seen on several occasions "willfully destroying and throwing away company product". Again, in the Record there is no evidence of any guidelines/ instructions nor was there any discussion at the time of termination with the claimant about her instructions how to do her light duty job which was to throw away bad product or as to what product should or should not be thrown away nor any communication with her as to why she was throwing away the product seen on the video. Also, there is no evidence in the Record to dispute what the Appellant was told as to what product was to be thrown away by her supervisors in her "sedentary work only" job which was to "throw away" company product that was unusable.

Ms. Davis filed for unemployment and the appeals tribunal found as a fact in sustaining her claim for unemployment, that Ms. Mary Davis, stated under oath that she:

"was told she was discharged for throwing away company product. The claimant also maintained she was responsible for inspecting the tortillas after they were cooked and dispose of ones that did not meet the employer's quality standards. She maintained that she did not discard tortillas that met the criteria to be used as she was trained."

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