RECEIVED

Feb 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No. 2025-001282

Mary L. Davis, Claimant,Appellant,

v.

Ruiz Food Products, Inc., Employer, and
Safety National Casualty Corporation, Carrier,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

McANGUS, GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Walter H. Barefoot
Post Office Box 12519
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 779-2300
walt.barefoot@mgclaw.com

Jeffrey Kuykendal
Post Office Box 30307
6302 Fairview Road, Suite 700
Charlotte, North Carolina 28226
(704) 643-6303
jeffrey.kuykendal@mgclaw.com

*Attorneys for Respondents Ruiz Food Products,

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

inspecting them was not just a snapshot in time. (R. pp. 581-685 at 93:11-93:18). She was observed on multiple different occasions and on multiple days, throwing away an entire stack of bread without inspecting it. (R. pp. 581-685 at 94:12-94:18; 95:14-95:24; R. pp. 512-551 at 29:2-29:4; 29:11-29:15).

At the hearing, Appellant alleged that her Employer was “putting too much bread on the table” and forcing her to do more than she could do. (R. pp. 581-685 at 58:25-59:10). However, she never reported to anyone that too much was asked of her. (R. pp. 581-685 at 58:25-59:10). Additionally, the work she was assigned to do, inspecting and separating bad bread, was normally done by someone who stacked the bread in addition to inspecting and separating it. (R. pp. 581-685 at 88:18-89:3).

According to Appellant, when she was informed that she was terminated for throwing away company product, she defended herself by stating it was her job to throw away company product and she was being terminated for doing her job. (R. pp. 581-685 at 50:9-50:22). According to the human resources supervisor, when Appellant was informed there was an investigation into her throwing away bread, she did not say anything. (R. pp. 512-551 at 29:16-30:2; 35:8-35:19; 37:4-37:10). During a second conversation when Appellant was informed she was terminated, she claimed that her supervisor told her to throw away the product, a claim her supervisor denied. (R. pp. 512-551 at 35:8-35:19).

Appellant had been written up and suspended on numerous occasions. On at least two occasions before her November 16, 2019 fall, Plaintiff was written up. On October 24, 2019, Appellant was written up as having 7 points due to being absent from work. (R. p. 404). On November 7, 2019, Appellant was written up as having 8 points for being absent from work. (R. p. 405).

Her violations of company policies continued after her fall. On January 9, 2020, Appellant was written up as having 9 points due to being absent from work. (R. p. 406). On January 24, 2020, Appellant was written up for punching in late on three separate occasions. (R. p. 407). On March 11, 2020, Appellant was written up as having 11 points for being absent from work, which led to a three-day suspension. (R. p. 408). On July 2, 2020, Appellant was written up as having 12 points for being absent from work and was again suspended for three days. (R. p. 409). On August 4, 2020, Appellant was written up for failing to punch out, not having her badge and being late on three separate dates. (R. p. 410). On July 8, 2022, Appellant was written up for leaving early. (R. p. 411). On October 31, 2022, Appellant was written up for clocking in late on three separate dates. (R. p. 412).

Appellant could have been terminated for her various and repeated violations of company policies, however, was not. (R. pp. 581-685 at 73:23-74:2). Appellant was not terminated until February 20, 2023 when it was reported and confirmed that she was intentionally destroying stacks of bread without inspecting it. There was no evidence to dispute that had she not thrown away the stacks of tortillas without inspecting them on multiple occasions, Employer would have continued to provide her suitable work. (R. pp. 581-685 at 75:11-75:14).

APPELLATE JURISDICTION

Review by the Court of Appeals of decisions by the Full Commission are limited to review of final decisions by the Full Commission or decisions that cannot be adequately remedied unless reviewed prior to a final decision. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (2024); *Brown v. Se. Servs., HHI, LLC*, 446 S.C. 105, 114, 917 S.E.2d 925, 930 (Ct. App. 2025) (“[b]ecause the commission’s order is neither a final decision nor is it the type of interlocutory order that has to be reviewed immediately to ensure adequate appellate review, we dismiss this case as not immediately

appealable.”). Here, the decision of the Full Commission was neither a final decision nor a decision that cannot be adequately remedied unless reviewed prior to a final decision.

A. The decision of the Full Commission was not a final decision.

Final decisions are those judgments by the Full Commission finally disposing of the whole subject matter of the action. *See Bone v. U.S. Food Serv.*, 404 S.C. 67, 84, 744 S.E.2d 552, 562 (2013); *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Env’t Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894, 895 (2010) (“[a] final judgment disposes of the whole subject matter of the action or terminates the particular proceeding or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.”).

Here, even Appellant implicitly acknowledges that the Full Commission did not dispose of the whole subject matter of the action given that she recently filed Appellant’s Motion expressly stating that further proceedings were necessary, including an adjudication on Appellant’s on-going medical care, a renewed argument for temporary total disability and whether Appellant is totally and permanently disabled. Thus, as the Full Commission has not ruled on whether Appellant is entitled to the relief being asserted in Appellant’s Motion, the decision of the Full Commission being appealed to this Court is not a final decision or final judgment. *See Brown*, 446 S.C. at 111, 917 S.E.2d at 928 *citing Rose v. JJS Trucking*, 411 S.C. 366, 368, 768 S.E.2d 412, 413 (Ct. App. 2015).

B. The decision of the Full Commission can be adequately remedied after a final decision.

Similarly, the decision of the Full Commission can be adequately remedied after a final decision. This second category of immediate review represents a narrow exception. *See Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd.*, 418 S.C. 245, 252, 791 S.E.2d 719, 723 (2016) *quoting State v. Lytchfiled*, 230 S.C. 405, 409, 95 S.E.2d 857, 859 (1957) (“circumstances...that will permit the immediate

appeal of an interlocutory administrative decision under section 1-23-380(A) ‘are about as rare as the proverbial hens’ teeth.’”). This case is not one of those rare occasions.

As the Court in *Brown* noted, if the order in that case, which addressed an award of temporary benefits, were immediately appealable, “every order addressing compensability and awarding temporary benefits or medical treatment would be immediately appealable. Review of intermediate orders would cease to be a rare exception.” *Brown*, 446 S.C. at 112, 917 S.E.2d at 929. Accordingly, this Court has expressly rejected immediate review of a decision by the Full Commission on the propriety of the very same temporary benefits Appellant sought.

Moreover, if, at the appropriate time, Appellant appeals and the Court of Appeals overturns the unanimous decisions of the Full Commission, Appellant will have an adequate remedy as she will receive the monies she was owed. Thus, an adequate remedy would exist even if this appeal is delayed until after a final determination.

Accordingly, Appellant’s appeal is premature and must be dismissed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In the unlikely event this Court decides this appeal on the merits, the decision of the Full Commission should be affirmed.

In workers’ compensation cases, the Full Commission is the ultimate finder of fact. *See Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000); *Frame v. Resort Servs. Inc.*, 357 S.C. 520, 528, 593 S.E.2d 491, 495 (Ct. App. 2004) (“[t]he final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Appellate Panel.”). The factual determinations by the Full Commission will not be overturned “unless there is no reasonable probability that the facts could be as related by a witness upon whose testimony the finding was based.” *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981); *Jones v.*

Georgia-Pacific Corp., 355 S.C. 413, 416, 586 S.E.2d 111, 113 (2003) (“[t]his Court will not overturn a decision by the Commission unless the determination is unsupported by substantial evidence.”). Accordingly, “an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse when the decision is affected by an error of law.” *Pollack v. Southern Wine & Spirits of America*, 405 S.C. 9, 747 S.E.2d 430 (2013) *citing* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

ARGUMENT

Appellant makes four arguments. First, she argues Commissioner Taylor and the Full Commission in largely affirming the findings of Commissioner Taylor, failed to address all the essential issues. Second, she argues, she is entitled to temporary total disability. Third, she argues Respondents failed to approve medical care related to Appellant’s left hip and leg. Fourth, she argues the findings of fact related to Appellant’s light-duty work restrictions were incorrect. All four of Appellant’s arguments are unavailing.

A. Commissioner Taylor and the Full Commission made appropriate findings of fact.

There is no dispute that Commissioner Taylor and the Full Commission were obligated to make findings of fact. That is exactly what they did. While Appellant takes issue with the amount of time Commissioner Taylor took to issue her findings, her findings and the findings of the Full Commission are supported by the record, adequately cite to the record and are not a basis for this Court to overturn the unanimous decision of Commission Taylor and the Full Commission. *See Jones*, 355 S.C. at 416, 586 S.E.2d at 113 *citing Lark*, 276 S.C. at 136, 276 S.E.2d at 307 (“[t]his Court will not overturn a decision by the Commission unless the determination is unsupported by substantial evidence.”); *Howell v. Pacific Columbia Mills*, 291 S.C. 469, 471, 354 S.E.2d 384, 385 (1987) (“[s]ubstantial evidence is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow

reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached to justify its action.”).

Appellant relies on *Hill v. Jones*, 255 S.C. 219, 178 S.E.2d 142 (1970) for the proposition that the findings of Commissioner Taylor and the Full Commission are inadequate. However, in *Hill*, the opinion of the Commission “contained only brief references to the testimony and no reasons were stated for the factual findings that the claim was compensable.” *See id.* at 224, 178 S.E.2d at 145. Here, the Commissioner Taylor issued a ten-page decision with eight paragraphs describing the evidence, twenty paragraphs of findings of fact and eleven paragraphs of conclusions of law, most of which cite to cases, statutes or evidence in the record. Additionally, the Full Commission issued a fourteen-page decision with nineteen paragraphs of findings of fact and twelve paragraphs of conclusions of law, most of which cite to cases, statutes or evidence in the record.

Additionally, the two central issues were sufficiently addressed. The two main issues in dispute are whether Appellant is entitled to temporary total disability and whether Appellant suffered a compensable injury as a result of the alleged assault. On the first issue, Commissioner Taylor issued findings of fact five through seven, seventeen and eighteen, which included citations to the record and relevant case law. The Full Commission issued findings of fact five through eight and eighteen, which included citations to the record and relevant case law. Those citations support the determination that Appellant was less credible and the testimony of other witnesses and video evidence contradicted her allegations. Further, it supported the conclusion that Appellant was fired for cause and not entitled to temporary total disability as discussed in more detail below.

As to the second issue, Commissioner Taylor issued findings of fact nine through seventeen, which include citations to testimony, medical records and Appellant's credibility. The Full Commission issued findings of fact nine through seventeen and nineteen. Those findings support the conclusion that Appellant did not suffer a compensable injury as a result of an alleged assault as discussed in more detail below.

Whether Appellant agrees with the findings and decision of Commissioner Taylor or the Full Commission is irrelevant. It should be undisputed that Commissioner Taylor and the Full Commission adequately supported their conclusions with sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law. Given that they did, this argument is not a basis to reverse or remand the decision of the Full Commission.

B. Appellant is not entitled to temporary total disability benefits.

Appellant makes two arguments in her quest to find reversible error on the denial of her temporary total disability claim. First, she argues that the Supreme Court's decision in *Pollack* was wrongly decided and must be strictly limited. Second, she argues she was fired for doing her job and not for cause. Appellant is incorrect on both counts.

Despite Appellant's arguments to the contrary, there is nothing in *Pollack* to suggest it is limited to situations where an employee violates a "specific written policy" and is not considered to be an aberration. As an initial matter, it must be noted that *Pollack*, a Supreme Court decision, has been cited at least 35 times since its issuance just over 10 years ago. It has not been questioned or criticized by any Court, let alone overruled. Put simply, the Supreme Court's decision remains good law.

In *Pollack*, an employee suffered an admitted injury to his back and returned to work as a drivers' supervisor with restrictions. *See id.* at 11, 747 S.E.2d at 431. While the employee was

investigating an accident involving a driver, he hit the side of another vehicle leaving only “a line of dirt on the vehicle” and no real property damage. *See id.* at 12, 747 S.E.2d at 431-432. The employee did not report his own minor accident in violation of the employer’s policy. *See id.* at 12, 747 S.E.2d at 432. The employee was suspended, but reinstated by his local superiors, only to be terminated by the corporate office just over two months after having returned from injury. *See id.*

Thereafter, the employee filed a claim for temporary total disability. *See id.* The employer testified that, but for the employee’s violation of the company policy in failing to report his accident, the employee would have continued to work with his restrictions. *See id.* at 13, 747 S.E.2d at 432. The hearing commissioner and the Full Commission found the employee was not entitled to temporary total disability because he was terminated for cause. *See id.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court held that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 provides that temporary total disability may begin when “an employee has been out of work *due to* a reported work-related injury...for eight days[.]...” *See id.* at 14, 747 S.E.2d at 433 (emphasis in original). The Court continued that when an employer offers suitable employment within the injured employee’s restrictions, entitlement to temporary total disability benefits is based on whether the employee’s inability to earn wages was the result of a work-related injury or termination for cause. *See id.* at 15-16, 747 S.E.2d at 433-434.

Here, Appellant was accommodated with her work restrictions for more than three years. She was written up numerous times resulting in several warnings and two multi-day suspensions. She was not terminated, even though she could have been, during that entire time. She was not terminated until there was a witness and video evidence that she was destroying company product by discarding stacks of approximately 50 tortillas without inspecting them. Put simply, Appellant

was terminated for cause and her status as being out of work was “due to” her for-cause termination and not a work-related injury. Under the holding in *Pollack* and the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260, Appellant is not entitled to temporary total disability.

Finally, Appellant argues that the Supreme Court’s decision in *Pollack* is contradicted by its earlier decision in *Last v. MSI Construction Co. Inc.*, 305 S.C. 349, 409 S.E.2d 334 (1991). Appellant misreads *Last*. In *Last*, the insurance carrier argued that benefits could be terminated for an employee who became incarcerated, and thus, could not appear for scheduled medical care. *See id.* at 352, 409 S.E.2d at 337. The Supreme Court noted that when a refusal of medical care is justified, a change in medical care may be allowed and there was no evidence that the employee refused medical care once a physician was designated. *See id.*

Last is not in conflict with *Pollack*. One deals with termination of benefits due to an alleged refusal to accept medical care, the other addresses entitlement to temporary total disability payments when an employee is terminated for cause. This case is clearly analogous to *Pollack* and not *Last*.

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